University of Wisconsin Milwaukee UWM Digital Commons

Theses and Dissertations

May 2018

Reliability Evaluation and Improvement Based on Operational Failure Rate of Power Electronics in Islanded Microgrid

Wen Zhong University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee

Follow this and additional works at: https://dc.uwm.edu/etd Part of the Electrical and Electronics Commons

Recommended Citation

Zhong, Wen, "Reliability Evaluation and Improvement Based on Operational Failure Rate of Power Electronics in Islanded Microgrid" (2018). *Theses and Dissertations*. 1964. https://dc.uwm.edu/etd/1964

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by UWM Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of UWM Digital Commons. For more information, please contact open-access@uwm.edu.

RELIABILITY EVALUATION AND IMPROVEMENT BASED ONOPERATIONAL FAILURE RATE OF POWER ELECTRONICS IN ISLANDED MICROGRID

by

Wen Zhong

A Thesis Submitted in

Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Science

in Engineering

at

The University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee

May 2018

ABSTRACT

RELIABILITY EVALUATION AND IMPROVEMENT BASED ONOPERATIONAL FAILURE RATE OF POWER ELECTRONICS IN ISLANDED MICROGRID

by

Wen Zhong

The University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, 2018 Under the Supervision of Dr. Lingfeng Wang

With power electronics being widely applied in microgrids, they become a key part in micro-grid and the reliability assessment considering power electronic devices have become a hot research topic, and much work has been done to evaluate the reliability of power electronics in microgrids. However, the impact of operational failure of power electronics on the overall microgrid reliability has not been studied yet.

This thesis has three objectives. The first objective of this thesis is to construct a systematic operational failure rate model of power electronic systems. The power generated from renewable generation units, such as PV arrays or wind turbines, is uncertain and difficult to predict. With the operational impact based on operational conditions taken into consideration, the evaluation of reliability is more accurate and it will make a great contribution to the design process and avoid costly expenses caused by undesired failures in microgrids. The second objective is to apply this model to do reliability assessment of the overall islanded microgrid with high penetration of renewable energy generation systems. In addition, this paper combines several reliability assessment methods. The third objective is to improve the reliability of the microgrid system by replacing the conventional battery storage system to the hybrid energy storage

system. Based on this proposed model, the operational failure models for the power electronic systems in an modified benchmark 0.4 kV test system were built and tested, and then the sensitivity analysis, exploring the influence of various factors, was studied.

© Copyright by Wen Zhong, 2018 All Rights Reserved

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1 Introduction1
1.1 Background1
1.2 The research of reliability assessment for islanded micro-grid
1.3 Reliability metrics
1.3.1 Basic Reliability metrics5
1.2.1 Power supply reliability index for customers7
1.4 Reliability Evaluation Method7
1.4.1 Simulation Method8
1.4.2 Analytical Method8
1.4.3 Proposed reliability model12
1.5 Reliability improvement methods of Power Electronic Systems
1.6 Research Objective and Thesis Layout15
Chapter 2 The operational reliability model for power electronic systems16
2.1 The subsystem main components and topology of island microgrid16
2.2 Reliability Evaluation of Power Electronic Systems
2.2.1 Operational conditions21
2.2.2 Power model
2.2.3 Loss Model24
2.2.4 Thermal Model26
2.2.5 Component Reliability Model27
2.2.6 System Reliability Model 28
2.3 Conclusion
Chapter 3 An operational reliability model and improvement of islanded micro-grid29
3.1 Introduction
3.2 Operational failure model of subsystems in island microgrid
3.2.1 Operational failure model of renewable generation system

3.2.2 Operational failure model of MTG system or ESS system	30
3.3 Model Test	31
3.3.1 Model Test of Wind turbine generation system	
3.3.2 Model Test of Solar power system	34
3.4 The reliability improvement in sub-system level	35
3.4.1 Development of Energy Storage Technology	
3.4.2 Improvement of island microgrid from subsystem-level	37
3.5 Conclusion	
Chapter 4 Case Study	40
4.1 Introduction	40
4.2 Modified benchmark 0.4 kV test system	40
4.3 Component parameters	
4.4 Simulation	51
4.4.1 Solution Process	51
4.4.2 Simulation results and analysis	52
4.5 Conclusions	59
Chapter 5 Sensitivity Analysis	60
5.1 The effect of wind turbine parameter setting	61
5.2 The effect of PV parameter setting	
5.3 The effect of ESS capacity	71
5.4 Yearly operational failure rate characteristics	73
5.5 Conclusions and future Works	76
Chapter 6 Conclusion and future work	77
References	79

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1 PV global capacity during 2006-20161
Figure 1-2 Wind power global capacity during 2006-20162
Figure 1-3 A typical failure rate curve
Figure 1-4 The equivalent network for series and parallel components7
Figure1-5 Model of network10
Figure 1-6 Network after minimum set simplify10
Figure 2-1 Illustration of the two-level converter17
Figure 2-2 A typical grid converter topology of PV modules
Figure 2-3 The topology of ESS
Figure 2-4 A typical grid converter topology of MTG or WTG system19
Figure 2-5 A systematical failure model of reliability assessment
Figure 2-6 A systematical power flow of microgrid22
Figure 2-7 Survey of different fragile components responsible for converter failure
Figure 3-1 Operational converter outage model for WTG/PV system
Figure 3-2 Operational converter outage model of ESS or MTG
Figure 3-3 Meteorological factors during the day

Figure 3- 5 Real-time wind power output
Figure 3-6 Operational converter failure rate of WTG
Figure 3-7 Hourly ambient temperature and solar illumination in summer Milwaukee
Figure 3-8 Real-time solar illumination power output
Figure 3-9 Operational converter failure rate in PV generation
Figure 3-10 A typical grid converter topology of HESS
Figure 4-1 Modified benchmark 0.4 kV test system41
Figure 4-2 Fault tree for improved benchmark 0.4 kV test system
Figure 4-3 Fault tree for PV system
Figure 4-4 Fault tree for wind turbine generation system
Figure 4-5 Fault tree for battery energy storage system
Figure 4-6 Fault tree for hybrid energy storage system
Figure 4-7 Hourly ambient temperature and wind speed
Figure 4-8 Hourly solar illumination
Figure 4-9 Proposed operational reliability evaluation procedure
Figure 4-10 Failure rates of power electronics for PV systems53
Figure 4- 11 Reliability indices of two cases

Figure 5-1 Average hourly wind generation	62
Figure 5-2 Hourly converter failure rate	62
Figure 5-3 Average hourly wind generation	64
Figure 5-4 Hourly converter failure rate	64
Figure 5-5 Converter failure rate	66
Figure 5-6 Average hourly PV generation	67
Figure 5-7 Failure rate of PV system at different Erated	68
Figure 5-8 Average hourly PV generation	69
Figure 5-9 Converter failure rate	69
Figure 5-10 Average hourly Generation of PV systemat different Grated	70
Figure 5-11 Failure rate of PV system at different Grated based on electronics	70
Figure 5-12 Failure rate of ESS system at different capacity	71
Figure 5-13 Hourly reliability indices for different capacity	72
Figure 5-14 Ambient temperature in Milwaukee, 2010	73
Figure 5-15 Wind speed in Milwaukee, 2010	73
Figure 5-16 Solar illumination in Milwaukee, 2010	73
Figure 5-17 Hourly wind generation	74
Figure 5-18 Hourly converter failure rate in WTG system	74

Figure 5-19 Hourly solar generation	.75
Eigung 5, 20 Hoursty consumption failung note in DV system	75
Figure 5-20 Houriy converter failure rate in PV system	.73

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3-1	Characteristics of different ESS elements	36
Table 4- 1	Location and capacities of microsources	41
Table 4-2	components in fault trees4	16
Table 4-3	Parameters of Feeder line	47
Table 4-4	Parameters of loads	48
Table 4-5	Parameters of power electronics in subsystems	49
Table 4-6	Reliability parameters of Component	19
Table 4-7	Two cases under different conditions	54
Table 4-8	Three cases under different conditions	55
Table 4-9	Three reliability indices under different conditions	56
Table 4-10	Three cases under different condition	57
Table 4- 11	Three reliability indices under different conditions	57
Table 4- 12	Three cases under different conditions	58
Table 4-13	Three reliability indices under different conditions	59
Table 5-1	Daily reliability indices for different cut-in wind speed	53
Table 5-2	Daily reliability indices for different cut-out wind speed	5
Table 5-3	Daily reliability indices for different rated wind speed	6

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I really appreciate my advisor Dr. Lingfeng Wang for his professional mentorship. His continuous guidance on my research in the past two semesters has been extremely useful and effective. As a high-level academic professor, his meticulous working style and high enthusiasm towards research has really inspired me. The details of each simulation and every data in this thesis are inseparable from his consistent and patient guidance.

I am highly thankful to the financial support for this research. This work was supported in part by National Science Foundation Industry/University Cooperative Research Center on GRid-connected Advanced Power Electronic Systems (GRAPES), and in part by the Research Growth Initiative Program of University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee under Award 101X360.

I would also like to express my gratitude to my thesis committees, Dr. David Yu, Dr. Wei Wei, for taking their time to review my thesis and for their valuable comments. I really appreciate the continuous guidance and attention of Dr. David Yu from preparation for going abroad and applying for campus to now. I would also like to give my gratitude to Professor. Shiying Hou, my advisor in ChongQing University. She gives me excellent guidance and valuable advice in research and is like family to me. I would also like to give my thanks to my seniors Dr. Yunfan Zhang, Dr Yitong seng, Dr.Liu, Dr, Jim and my labmates, Qi Li, Zikai Jiang, Shuaiyu Pu, Wentao Zou for their encouragement and support all the time, and my friends made at here, especially Spencer and Dr. Petering, who teach me a lot about pronunciation in my English class. Because of their company, my life is full and enjoyable.

And finally, I would like to give my thanks to my family and China Scholarship Council, no matter what happens, they are always being there for me.

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Background

Nowadays, energy and environmental issues are a primary concern for human existence and development. Not only does conventional energy have limited sources on our planet, but also causes severe environmental pollution. Under the pressure of these problems that we're facing, finding a new type of sustainable energy to replace conventional power is of great importance [1].

The application of renewable energy is a practical solution to these global issues. Based on the 2017 Renewable Global status report shown in Figure 1.2, the Total global capacity of solar PV(Photovoltaic) generation systems from 2006 to 2016 increases and reaches the 303 GW in 2016 [2]. The average annual growth rate of the solar power capacity from 2006 to 2016 is about 33%.



Figure 1-1 PV global capacity during 2006-2016

The total global capacity of the WTG (wind turbine generation) systems from 2006 to 2016 shows an upward trend and reaches the 487 GW in 2016[2]. As shown in figure, the average growth rate of the wind power capacity between 2006 and 2016 is about 13%.

The rapid development of solar and wind energy generation drives the rapid growth of power electronics technology. For renewable energy generation systems, power electronic converters are essential for embedding wind turbines or PV arrays with the power system by converting the natural power to a more stable power that is more compatible with the grid.



Wind Power Global Capacity and Annual Additions, 2006-2016

Figure 1-2 power global capacity Wind during 2006-2016

Islanded microgrids with heavy penetration of renewable energy are widely applied in different fields. Especially in countries where they have low transmission capabilities, due to access to electricity being complicated and expensive. However, these places have sufficient renewable energy sources (solar energy, wind energy, and etc), which make it possible to supply the local loads. Compared to building large power plants or transfering electricity from the grid through long-distance power lines, not only do islanded micro-grids reduce global house gases emission, they also solve energy shortage problems as well as avoiding long-distance transmission of electricity and solving the power shortage in some rural and remote places. In addition, when a grid has a failure, micro-grid also has to work in islanded mode, thus the reliability issues of islanded microgrid is of great importance.

1.2 The research of reliability assessment for islanded micro-grid

The reliability engineering firstly emerged to address the reliability issues in military applications [3,4,5]. There are two methods that are widely adopted. The first one is the empirical reliability model, and it is based on previous operating data and several handbooks [6,7]. They mainly use constant values to evaluate the reliability indices. This method has been widely applied to power systems to analyze average reliability indices[8]. However, the empirical approach is independent of operational condition and does not take the physical cause of electronics' failure into consideration.

The second model is the physics-based reliability model, which was first proposed in 1962 [9]. It focuses on identifying the root-cause mechanism of component failures and is based on the specific operational conditions. Since the increased application of integrated circuits (ICs) after the 1990s, it was evident that the constant failure rate of the empirical reliability model is inadequate [10], compared with the former method, a physical-based reliability model is more reasonable and practical [11,12,13]. The physical-based reliability model has played a more critical role in reliability engineering. In previous

studies of the physical-based reliability model, two types of failures were widely studied like failures caused by thermal over-temperature and thermal cycling [14].

In recent years, high reliability is often regarded as one of the main technical advantages of microgrids [15-21]. Most of the previous works explore reliability by considering microgrids penetrated with the conventional or renewable power system. However, their approaches don't consider variable failure and repair rates, or even including any power electronic interfaces [15–19]. Reference [15] proposed an approach evaluating reliability from an operational perspective based on matching generations and loads, which consider components to be completely reliable. Reference [16] focuses on the isolated system, only considering constant power output of generation units, and it cannot be applied to any violently fluctuating renewable generator. Reference [19] is based on variable loads to schedule the optimal structure of the system and find the impact on interruption caused by transmission system failure. To evaluate the reliability more accurately, reference [20] considers the protection issues to evaluate reliability indices of islanded microgrids by using a short-term outage model. Based on this, reference [21] considers the impact of incorrect responses of the protection system and employs the short-term outage model to evaluate the fuzzy reliability indices.

There are few works exploring the effect of the power electronics and the influences of different meteorological factors at the same time on reliability evaluation of islanded microgrids, not to mention presenting systematical reliability models and methods for microgrids. References [22] [23] introduce the basic indices, reliability assessment

methods and reliability improvement methods. For component level reliability assessment, the failure rate model proposed by [24] is commonly used in the reliability evaluation of power electronic devices. Based on these, reference [25] provides a real time model of converters based on the multi-level converters in WTG system. However, this method cannot adequately show the hourly failure rate of components.

Previous work did not take the variable failure rates of power electronics which are dependent on different factors into consideration. Since volatile renewable generation has been highly embedded in microgrids, the failure of power interfaces, which is affected by different operational states of the components in the microgrid, have the negative impact on the overall microgrid. Thus, operational reliability has become a hot issue for microgrids. To deal with this problem, this paper proposes a systematical operational reliability model for power electronic devices in the microgrid. The failure rates of power electronic devices in this model are calculated according to operational states, and then microgrid reliability is evaluated considering the failure rates of power electronics. This method will be verified by a case study. Then, the simulation results will be analyzed.

1.3 Reliability metrics

1.3.1 Basic Reliability metrics

To predict the reliability of the system, the reliability metrics which could show the system's performance, should be determined as first. The primary metrics are adopted for the power electronic systems and explained as below.

A. Reliability

The reliability is defined as the ability of an item to perform a required function under stated conditions for period [26,27].

B. Failure Rate

A bathtub curve illustrates that the lifetime of an item which is composed of three periods[26] as shown in Fig.1.5. $\lambda(t)$ has a close relationship with reliability R(t) and can be expressed:



Figure 1-3 A typical failure rate curve as a function of time.

Based on the empirical reliability model, the failure rates of items (components, subsystems) are independent on operational conditions. Although this assumption has limitations [22], the reliability can be expressed by:

$$R(t) = e^{-\lambda t} \tag{1.2}$$

(1.1)

C. Outage Time

Outage Time (U) is defined as the duration time expected to be failure state of an element when it has failure, and can be described as:

$$U_i = \lambda_i \times r_i \tag{1.3}$$

Where "i" means that it is the ith element of the system, and "r" refers to the repair time of this element, the repair time of components can be determined by its maintenance and is dependent on the level of the protection scheme of the microgrid.

1.2.1 Power supply reliability index for customers

(i) System average interruption frequency index (SAIFI)

$$SAIFI = \frac{customer \text{ int } erruptions}{customerserved} = \frac{\sum \lambda_i N_i}{\sum N_i} [\text{ int } erruptions / customer]$$
(1.4)

(ii) System average interruption duration index (SAIDI)

$$SAIDI = \frac{total \quad interruption \quad duration}{customer \quad served} = \frac{\sum U_i N_i}{\sum N_i} [hours/customer]$$
(1.5)

(iii) Energy not supplied index (ENS)

$$ENS = total energy not \sup plied by the system = \sum L_i U_i [kW.h]$$
(1.6)

1.4 Reliability Evaluation Method

Based on the definition of reliability basic metrics mentioned above, the effective method

should be proposed to evaluate the reliability of islanded microgrid. This section focuses on the summary of the existed method and comparison, then proposes the reliability evaluation method applied in chapter 4. The reliability evaluation method for electric power systems can be mainly classified into a simulation and analytical method.

1.4.1 Simulation Method

The simulation method commonly refers to the Monte Carlo simulation(MCS), which analyzes the reliability indices by simulating different processes of the system. It can be divided into two methods, which are the time sequential MC method and the non-sequential MC method.

On the other hand, sequential MCS can take the sequential operating conditions of the system into consideration and could also address events and states that are dependent on time sequence [28], while the non-sequential Monte Carlo simulation does not.

1.4.2 Analytical Method

The analytical method, which focuses on evaluating the reliability index using the direct numerical method is mainly composed of the FTA, the Markov model, and some other methods.

A. Network Reduction method[29]

The basic idea of the network reduction method is to describe the structure of the conversion system as serial-parallel networks based on the reliability point of view, so the

converter model can also be expressed as a series-parallel combination model in each subsystem. By grouping the components in a series or parallel connection, this method reduces the number of components effectively. As shown in figure 1-6, assuming two components in each system are independent. The equivalent failure rate and repair rate of the two components system is expressed in (1.8). Then we get the repair rate for a parallel system, which consists of n components in function (1.9). A series system that consists of n components failure rate can be calculated in function (1.10)[29].



Figure 1-4 The equivalent network for series and parallel components

$$\lambda_{eq} = \lambda_1 + \lambda_2 \qquad r_{eq} = \frac{\lambda_{eq} \cdot r_1 \cdot r_2}{\lambda_1 \cdot \lambda_2 + \lambda_1 \cdot r_2 + \lambda_2 \cdot r_1} \quad \lambda_{eq} = \frac{\lambda_1 \cdot \lambda_2 (r_1 + r_2)}{r_1 \cdot r_2 + \lambda_1 \cdot r_1 + \lambda_2 \cdot r_2} \quad r_{eq} = r_1 + r_2 (1.7)$$

$$\lambda_s = \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i \tag{1.8}$$

$$r_s = \sum_{i=1}^n r_i \tag{1.9}$$

B. Minimum Cut Set

The minimum cut set is a group of components, if anyone of these components has a failure, the entire system will have a failure. Based on the figure 1-5, the minimum cut set of the system is (1,3), (2,4), (1,5,4), (3,5,2) and can be simplified to the figure 1-6.



Figure 1-5 Model of network



Figure 1-6 Network after minimum set simplification

C. Markov model

The Markov process is an analytical technique giving all possible states of the system, mainly applied in repairable systems. This method assumes the time spent at each state belongs to an exponentially distributed function. A number of possible events are defined as the transitions between different states, and these transitions can be expressed in a transition matrix [30]. By adding the states of components to illustrate the transitions

among different combinations of the components' operational condition, this model might be extended to a comprehensive state transition model for the overall system and obtains the system level reliability indices. However, this state-based model is complicated (e.g. maximum 2ⁿ states with n components), and will increase the difficulty of calculation. In addition, it is mainly based on a constant failure rate and a constant repair rate and can't reflect the influence of different operational factors.

D. Fault Tree Analysis method

The FTA method combines the system failure with component failure and is expressed in a graphic logical reasoning aspect. At first, the FTA method identifies all the causing events for the system's undesired failure, then constructs the failure paths which connect the causing events and related failure. Secondly, when obtaining the failure rates of the causing events and combining it with the network conduction method, which gives it access to calculating the overall failure rate of the top failure event [31,32]. Fault trees are mainly composed of static logical gates, such as "AND" and "OR" gates, and causing events. The FTA method has several advantages, such as taking all factors into account, identifying causes of failure effectively, and identifying the critical components in the system based on the component's physical location in the system [33].

In addition, when obtaining failure rates of components, this model can evaluate the overall system reliability by logical calculation directly, which reduces the complexity of the reliability assessment. However, the previous works using the FTA method are mainly based on a constant failure rate which does not take the dependencies among the components into consideration.

To overcome this limitation, this paper proposes the operational failure rate model to obtain the real time failure rate considering the operational factors (the dependencies among the components, thermal factor, electrical factor, processing factor). This method combines the FTA method with the Network reduction method based on the concept of the minimum cut set, providing the island microgrid with the systematical model to evaluate the reliability performance.

1.4.3 Proposed reliability model

After obtaining failure rates of power electronics from the analysis above, operational reliability indices considering the time-varying failure rates of power electronics in islanded micro-grid can be evaluated. The characteristic effect of renewable energy contributes to the volatile variation of temperature for power electronic systems on the supply of islanded micro-grids can be evaluated through the short term outage model adopted in this paper. Since the operational failure rate model for each subsystem takes the meteorological and environmental factors into consideration, the failure rates of them are dependent on time. Utilizing the short-term outage model [20,21], the operational reliability indices like outage time and repair rate of each load can be obtained. Based on indices and power indices from customer's perspective analyzed above, the influence of different micro-sources on different loads in islanded microgrids can be reflected effectively through the time-varying power reliability indices like SAIFI, SAIDI and ENS introduced in section 1.3, for the overall islanded micro-grid showed as below.

$$\begin{bmatrix} U_{1} \\ U_{2} \\ \cdots \\ U_{N} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} r_{11} & r_{12} & \cdots & r_{1M} \\ r_{21} & \gamma_{22} & \cdots & r_{2M} \\ \cdots & \cdots & \cdots & \cdots \\ r_{N1} & r_{N1} & \cdots & r_{NM} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_{1} \\ \lambda_{2} \\ \cdots \\ \lambda_{M} \end{bmatrix}$$
(1.10)

$$h(i,j) = \begin{cases} 0, & r_{ij} = 0\\ 1, & r_{ij} > 0 \end{cases}$$
(1.11)

$$\lambda_{LP,i} = h(i,:) \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_1 \\ \lambda_2 \\ \dots \\ \lambda_M \end{bmatrix}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, N$$
(1.12)

$$r_{LP,i} = \frac{U_i}{\lambda_{LP,i}}, \quad i = 1, 2, ..., N$$
 (1.13)

where $U_1, U_2, ..., U_N$ are the outage time for each load point, the r matrix represents the repair rate, h(i,:) is equal to 1 when its related repair rate has variation, otherwise, it is equal to 0. $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, ..., \lambda_M$ are the operational failure rate of each micro-source sysytem, considering the influence of operational failure rate of power electronics system applied in each micro-source generation system and the failure rate of each source. λ_{LP} and r_{LP} are the failure rate and repair time of each load point, respectively.

1.5 Reliability improvement methods of Power Electronic Systems

A systematical operational reliability model of power electronic systems in subsystems of islanded microgrids will be presented in Section 2.1. As mentioned in chapter 1, the reliability is one criterion in the designing stage. In order to improve the items' reliability, several methods are presented.

Based on the failure rate model of components, it can be observed that the failure rate is a product of several factors such as the aging quality factor, manufacturing factor, thermal factor and the over stress ability factor. Among these factors, the manufacturing factor is the property of components and could be improved in designing stage by replacing the low level quality devices to high level quality devices. In addition, the manufacturing factor accounts for a large part of the whole factors effecting the failure rate of components. Thus the first direct method is to improve the component quality level by improving the quality of components.

Followed by is the electrical and thermal factors(processing factor), especially for semiconductors like IGBT, MOSFET. These two factors have significant influence on the performance of components. Therefore, the second method refining thermal management is an effective method to power electronics [34].

The third method is to add redundancy on the system based on the hardware and software perspective. For the redundancy in the system-level, it improves the reliability of power electronic systems greatly. However, this method will at least double the cost and will also bring new challenges to the reliability issue of the system. Then comes the redundancy in the subsystem-level to overcome this disadvantage, improving the reliability of the system greatly with a lower cost and increasing the system's flexibility [35]. Thus, in this paper, the third method will be utilized and the simulation will verify the proposed method in the followed part.

1.6 Research Objective and Thesis Layout

The Objective of this thesis is to present a systematical operational reliability model to evaluate the reliability of the islanded micro-grid considering the impact of power electronics systems in the real-time operational and environmental factors. In addition, to enhance the reliability of system in a subsystem-level, the hybrid energy storage system replaces the conventional battery energy storage system. Based on this goal, a lot of work has been done and has verified the proposed application of the hybrid energy storage system.

The first chapter is about the research for the reliability assessment of islanded microgrids, the application of hybrid energy storage system, and reliability methods commonly used recently. The first part of the second chapter has an overall introduction of the topology and main components of subsystems in the islanded microgrid, then a framework for a reliability analysis of the power electronics system is proposed and the associated details of the framework are illustrated, and it also has a brief introduction about the reliability improvement. The third chapter covers the operational failure modelling process for converters, considering the operating environments' meteorological factors in each subsystem, and is therefore tested.

Chapter 4 covers a case study, which is based on the modified benchmark 0.4 kV test system and will use the short-term outage model to evaluate the reliability of the system. Then an analysis based on different factors(operational failure rates of electronic power system, types of ESS, types of Micro-sources)is studied to investigate their impact on the reliability of the electronic power system and the overall system's reliability performance. And the sensitivities analysis considering the effect of yearly characteristics, parameters of wind turbine , parameter of PV array and ESS capacity will be done in chapter 5. Finally, Chapter 6 presents conclusions and future works.

Chapter 2 The operational reliability model for power electronic systems

2.1 The subsystem main components and topology of island microgrid

To evaluate the reliability of microgrid, the topology and components are introduced in this section. A micro-grid is composed of generation system, energy storage system, control system and loads. Generation systems in this thesis are composed of renewable and non-renewable generation system, the former one mainly refers to WTG system and PV system which has been mostly utilized in nowadays. Since micro-turbine generation (MTG) has many advantages: high efficiency, lower cost, and higher possibility to meet customers [36], it is chosen as non-renewable energy generation in the studied system. With development of power electronic technology, the fully controlled switches are increasingly applied in conversion system and show good performance. As shown in the Figure 1-3, this converter is composed of 6 diodes and 6 IGBTs, then the generation side connected rectifier is connected to inverter through a DC-link capacitor.



Figure 2-1 Illustration of the two-level converter

A. PV system

Nowadays, the application of PV systems is greatly increasing and have a promising future, since it is environmentally friendly and easy to obtain. Though, PV systems interfaced to microgrids usually employ two stages conversion system [37]– [39]. This paper is based on a single stage inverter topology. Most commonly used topology is the 2L-VSI (two level voltage source inverter) [38]. A single stage inverter topology can convert the intermittent solar power into AC power for microgrids effectively and also have several advantages such as higher efficiency, economic and smaller size [39].



Figure 2-2 A typical grid converter topology of PV modules

C ESS system

For islanded micro-grid, the power generated by DGs (distributed generation system) and ESS(energy storage system) has to meet the demand of loads. Because of the unstable characteristic of renewable energy and the loads demands, a reliable ESS system can improve stability and power quality of system. Therefore, the reliability of components in ESS is considered as a criterion when choosing the topology for system [40,41]. The primary topology of ESS is a single stage inverter that is similar to the topology of the PV system. Power electronic systems interface the storage units to the microgrid should have ability to allow smoothly transition between the different modes, and transfer power bidirectionally and work continuously [42].



Figure 2-3 The topology of ESS

B. WTG system or MTG system

For WTG system or MTG system, this paper is based on a back-to-back topology (2L-BTB) as shown in Fig. 2-4[43-49]. The desirable characteristics of the 2L-BTB is compact structure and low cost, and the technology available in this field is mature. The commonly adopted uncontrollable rectifier composed of diodes will generate harmonic currents, causing additional losses and increase temperature rise of generator. To overcome this problem, a directional PWM rectifier is analyzed in this paper which is composed of 6 IGBTs and parallel connected diode [46].



2.2 Reliability Evaluation of Power Electronic Systems

In this part, a systematical failure rate model of power electronic is demonstrated. The model is composed of several procedures which assess the reliability performance of power electronic systems based on specific operational condition. The proposed model is demonstrated in Fig. 2.1[50]. This model works for power electronic systems in islanded microgrid. The operational condition (meteorological factors, physical configuration parameters, ect) that determines the operational conditions of the power electronic systems is the input to the general model, and the various reliability metrics including failure rate, reliability, availability can be obtained from the model.



Figure 2-5 A systematical failure model of reliability assessment

2.2.1 Operational conditions

For power electronics, the operational condition represents variable loads, the real time meteorological statistics and the output of power generation systems, and these factors will determine different stresses of the power electronics. Among those factors, the electrical and thermal factors of components have close relationship with the output requirement of the converters and the real time meteorological statistics.

2.2.2 Power model

To obtain the output of DGs and ESS within a specific interval, variable power models based on real time meteorological statistics are illustrated in this part.



Figure 2-6 A systematical power flow of microgrid

A. Calculating Output Power for WTG

After obtaining the meteorological statistics for wind turbines, take it as input to the power model, then the output of WTG systems are presents as below. As the expression shows, the output power of wind turbine has closely relationship with wind speed [49]. As shown in the representation, P_{WTG} is output of the WTG system, v_{ci} is the cut in wind speed, v_{co} is cut out wind speed.

$$P_{WTG} = \begin{cases} P_{wr} & v_r \le v < v_{co} \\ P_{wr} \times \frac{v - v_{ci}}{v_r - v_{ci}} & v_{ci} \le v < v_r \\ 0 & others \end{cases}$$
(2.1)
B Calculating Output Power for PV system

After obtaining the meteorological statistics for solar panels, take it as input to the power model. Then the output power of PV systems are presents as below. As the expression shows, the output power of PV models has closely relationship with meteorological factors [49]. As shown in the representation, P_{PV} is output of the PV modules, T_a is the ambient temperature, Is is the solar illumination, P_{sr} is the rated output of PV modules, T_r is the reference temperature and I_r is the reference solar illumination.

$$P_{PV} = P_{sr} \left[1 - 0.0045 \left(T_a - T_r \right) \right] \frac{I}{I_r}$$
(2.2)

C Calculating Output Power for MTG system

Since MTG systems is controllable energy generation system, in the case study in the 4 chapter, with the peer-to-peer control energy management strategy, MTG system and renewable generation systems both supply the power to loads, when there is mismatch between the power supplied by distribution systems and loads requirement, then ESS will fill the gap. The variable output power of micro-turbine can be expressed as below. When it can fully fill the gap between the load required and power of other generation subsystems, the output can be expressed as:

$$P_{MTG} = P_{PV} + P_{WTG} + P_{ESS} - P_{loss}$$

$$P_g = P_{PV} + P_{WTG}$$
(2.3)

Otherwise, the output of micro-turbines can be expressed as:

$$P_{MTG} = P_{MTrated} \tag{2.4}$$

D Calculating Power flow of ESS

The overall power flow of the islanded microgrid system [51] is shown in Figure 2-6. Considering the switching losses in electronic power systems in microgrid, the relationship between the power flow in the micro-grid system can be expressed as below:

$$P_{load} + P_{loss} = P_{ESS} + P_g + P_{MTG}$$
(2.5)

Where P_g is the sum of the output of the WTG and PV systems, Pload is the requirement of loads, P_{ESS} is power flow in or out of ESS.

2.2.3 Loss Model



Figure 2-7 Survey of different fragile components responsible for converter failure [48]

As shown in the pie chart above, the least reliable components in electronic power systems are semiconductors and capacitors, especially in islanded micro-grid, their performance will have influence the quality of power supplied to customers directly. When obtaining the current, voltage and power of the devices provided by the power model, then a loss model is used to calculate the power loss of the components. The power loss of the VSC is the sum of power loss of diodes and IGBTs. The loss of each component (IGBT or diode) could be calculated based on the output power, voltage, current, frequency of switch of the wind turbine, PV modules or energy storage system, micro-turbine generator [52]. The power loss of each component in VSC can be expressed as follows respectively [52], [53]:

$$P = V_{diode} I(\frac{1}{2\pi} - \frac{M}{8}\cos\theta) + R_{diode} I^2 \left(\frac{1}{8} - \frac{M}{3\pi}\cos\theta\right) + \frac{f}{\pi} \cdot \frac{V_{DC}I}{V_{ref,diode}I_{ref,diode}} E_{diode}$$
(2.6)

$$P = V_{IGBT} \left(\frac{1}{2\pi} \pm \frac{M}{8} \cos\theta\right) + R_{IGBT} I^2 \left(\frac{1}{8} \pm \frac{M}{3\pi} \cos\theta\right) + \frac{f}{\pi} \cdot \frac{V_{DC}}{V_{ref,IGBT} I_{ref,IGBT}} E_{on} + E_{off}$$
(2.7)

As shown in the loss model of each component, V_{DC} represents DC link voltage; M is the modulation index; and θ is the angle between the current and voltage, I is the peak phase current. For each diode, R_{diode} is the conduction resistance and E_{diode} is the rated switching loss; the V_{diode} is the voltage drops across the diode; $V_{ref,diode}$ and $I_{ref,diode}$ are the reference commutation current and voltage respectively. For each IGBT, R_{IGBT} is the voltage drops across IGBT; $V_{ref,diode}$ and $I_{ref,diode}$ are the reference commutation voltage and $I_{ref,diode}$ are the power losses of IGBT during the switching operation. I can be expressed by [49]:

$$I \approx \frac{\sqrt{2P_t}}{\sqrt{3U_l}} \tag{2.8}$$

Where Pt is the power output of the generation systems or energy storage systems and Ul is the line-to-line voltage for each subsystem on the AC side. The total power loss of the converters can be expressed as below:

$$P_{loss} = \sum_{i=1}^{N1} P_{IGBT,i} + \sum_{j=1}^{N2} P_{diode,j}$$
(2.9)

N1 and N2 represents the number of IGBTs and diodes in the converter.

2.2.4 Thermal Model

The power losses of devices could be utilized as input for the thermal model to obtain thermal factors of devices. This model is to predict thermal factors like junction temperature and temperature variation and detect thermal cycling of devices. Two factors like junction temperature and temperature variation are critical factors to semiconductor devices [52]. The temperature rise in the converter (inverter and rectifiers) can be calculated as below [49]:

$$T_{\text{mod}\,ule} = T_{ambient} + R_{ha} P_{loss} \tag{2.10}$$

where ambient temperature is represented by $T_{ambient}$ and thermal resistance from ambient temperature to heatsink is represented by R_{ha} .

2.2.5 Component Reliability Model

Using the component reliability model, several reliability metrics, like failure rate, reliability, mean time to repair and availability can be calculated. Take the different factors obtained from the models analyzed in above sections. Based on these basic metrics, other reliability indicators can also be obtained. In the failure rate model of this paper, the hourly failure rate is regarded as unit. The failure rate model of each component in electronic power systems could be expressed as below, different basic factors can be referenced in [54].

$$\lambda = \prod_{PM} \prod_{process} \prod_{induced} \left(\gamma_{TH} \prod_{TH} TH + \gamma_{TC} \prod_{TC} TC + \gamma_{M} \prod_{T} M + \gamma_{RH} \prod_{RH} RH \right)$$
(2.11)

In which γ_{TH} , γ_{TC} , γ_M , γ_{RH} are the basic failure rate influenced by temperature, thermal cycling, mechanical and humidity respectively. In addition, the Π_{PM} is manufacturing factor and $\Pi_{process}$ can represent the aging quality of the component during its lifetime, and $\Pi_{induced}$ is the factor reflecting its overstress ability. Π_{TH} and Π_{TC} are the thermal factor and thermal cycling factors, respectively, and they can be expressed as

$$\Pi_{TH} = \exp\left(11604 \times 0.44 \times \left[\frac{1}{293} - \frac{1}{T_{ambient} + \Delta T + 273}\right]\right)$$
(2.12)

$$\Pi_{TC} = 12 \times \sqrt[3]{0.5} \times \left(\frac{\Delta T_{cycling}}{20}\right)^{2.5} \times \exp\left(1414 \times \left[\frac{1}{313} - \frac{1}{T_{max} + 273}\right]\right)$$
(2.13)

in which $\Delta T = 10^{\circ}$ C, $\Delta T_{cycling}$ is the temperature variation in a phase and T_{max} is the maximum temperature in a phase.

2.2.6 System Reliability Model

After the analysis above, the reliability metrics of components are obtained. Based on component-level reliability metrics of devices and using the system-level reliability method which considers the interaction among components and subsystems to give a systematical model for microgrid.

2.3 Conclusion

In the first section of this chapter, the topology which is selected as one stage conversion system for DC sources (PV modules and Battery banks) and the topology which is selected as AC/AC conversion system composed of bidirectional PWM rectifier for AC sources (wind generators and micro-turbine generators) and one VSC (Voltage Source Converter) inverter are illustrated.

In section 2.2, an outline of systematical operational failure rate model, which is composed of operational conditions, power output model, converter model, loss model and thermal model, is presented. In this systematical model, operational condition is to determine different stresses of power electronics. The loss model is to calculate the power loss of power converters based on the operational conditions of power electronics. Based on the operational factors, the operational reliability models of components can be built. Finally, combined with proposed system level reliability assessment method, the reliability models of each subsystem and overall system can be constructed. Since the reliability evaluation results is a criterion in design stage and provides a guidance on reliability improvement. Then the three commonly-used methods to improve reliability of power electronic systems are introduced in section 2.3. Last part is the conclusion of this chapter.

Chapter 3 An operational reliability model and improvement of islanded micro-grid

3.1 Introduction

This chapter is organized in the following way. Based on systematical failure model of power electronics systems proposed in section 2.2. In this chapter, the reliability of the power electronics systems in islanded microgrid are evaluated. The reliability models of PV system, WTG system, MTG system and ESS system are introduced in section 3.2. In section 3.3, some tests have been done to verify the model. The introduction of HESS (hybrid energy storage system) and to enhance the reliability performance of microgrid by replacing the conventional BESS (battery storage system) with HESS, then theoretically analysis will be introduced in section 3.4. The conclusion is given in section 3.5.

3.2 Operational failure model of subsystems in island microgrid

3.2.1 Operational failure model of renewable generation system

For the model illustrated in figure 3-1, first the hourly WTG/PV output is calculated based on the meteorological statistics. Then the electrical stresses for power electronics in subsystem can be obtained, combining them with the physical configuration and parameters. Then the total power loss of the power electronics is calculated based on loss model and the temperature rise over the converter can also be obtained based on thermal model. Based on operational factors, combined with system level reliability assessment method, the converter operational failure rate can be obtained. In one words, if we input the hourly meteorological statistics into this model we can calculate the real-time failure rate of power electronic system.



Figure 3-1 Operational converter outage model for WTG/PV system

3.2.2 Operational failure model of MTG system or ESS system

For the model illustrated in figure 3-2, when there is mismatch between the power supplied by renewable generation systems, energy storage system and loads requirement, the hourly power flow of MTG and ESS is calculated. Then the total power loss of the power electronics is calculated and the real-time temperature over the converter is also calculated based on thermal model [52]. Finally, the converter operational failure rate can be calculated.



Figure 3-2 Operational converter outage model of ESS or MTG

3.3 Model Test

After constructing the time-varying operational failure model of subsystems in island microgrid, in order to verify the models. Some tests have been done in this section.

3.3.1 Model Test of Wind turbine generation system

The rated output of this wind turbine is 1000 kw, when increasing the wind speed linearly, the output of wind turbines can be observed in figure 3-3. In the first period, before the V (wind speed) reaches the V_{ci} (cut-in speed), the output of wind turbines is 0. In the second period, when V ranges from the V_{ci} to V_r (rated speed) the output shows an upward trend. In the third period, when V exceeds V_r , the output power of wind turbines remains at rated power.



Figure 3-3 Relationship between wind speed and output

Taking hourly temperature and wind speed for one day in 2010 summer in Milwaukee as inputs and meteorological statistics are shown as below:



Figure 3-4 Meteorological factors during the day

As we can see in the Figure 3-4, the wind speed reaches its peak point around 13:00 and the ambient temperature reaches its peak point around 15:00. It is obvious that the wind speed is fluctuates more frequently than the ambient temperature.



Figure 3-5 Real-time wind power output

As shown in the Figure 3-5, power output of wind turbines reaches the peak value and remains at rated power from 8:00 to 18:00, since the wind speed start to increase from 8:00 at 12m/s and maintain its increasing trend until 13:00, then begin to drop but is still above 12m/s. Based on the real-time meteorological statistics, the operating failure rate can be calculated as below:



Figure 3-6 Operational converter failure rate of WTG

As is shown in Figure 3-6, the failure rate reached the highest point around 15:00 and reached a minimum point at 23:00. In the meantime, the ambient temperature is almost in lowest level and the wind speed reached its minimum point at 9. It is obvious that the operational failure rate curve varies similarly as the ambient curve. Take the interval from 13:00 to 15:00 as an example, the ambient temperature is increasing, while the wind speed is decreasing. The results show that the operational failure rate of WTG from 13:00 to 15:00 is increasing and reaches highest point at 15:00.

3.3.2 Model Test of Solar power system

Taking the real-time meteorological statistics as inputs, the power of PV arrays can be calculated. The hourly temperature and solar illumination for one day in summer 2010 in Milwaukee is used to verify this model and are shown as below:



Figure 3-7 Hourly ambient temperature and solar illumination in Milwaukee

As shown in the figure above, the ambient temperature reached its peak at 13:00 and the solar illumination reached its peak at 15:00. It is obvious that the solar illumination fluctuates more violently than the ambient temperature. Based on the real time meteorological statistics, the hourly output of PV arrays can be obtained. As shown in the Figure 3-8, the solar power output reaches its peak at 13:00, because the solar illumination reaches their peak value in the meantime.



Figure 3-8 Real-time solar illumination power output

Then the operational failure rate of PV arrays can be calculated as below:



Figure 3-9 Operational converter failure rate in PV generation

As shown above, the failure rate reached a minimum from 0:00 to 4:00 and 23:00 to 24:00, reaching the highest point around 13:00. Also, the solar illumination reached its peak at 13:00. Observing the curves above, it shows that the operational failure rate curve is similar to the solar illumination curve.

3.4 The reliability improvement in sub-system level

For islanded microgrid with high penetration of renewable energy storage systems, because of the intermittent and uncertain characteristics of generation system, the system has unstable supply if without the energy storage systems [55], and it also brings big challenges to reliability issues when islanded microgrid have to supply necessary loads

like governmental or residential loads, the energy storage system is critical and have close relationship with reliability performance of system. Combining the reliability improvement methods introduced in section 2.4 with the development of ESSs, the characteristics and configuration of HESS to improve reliability performance in subsystem level will be introduced in this part.

3.4.1 Development of Energy Storage Technology

In island microgrid, when there is a mismatch between power supplied by generation systems and loads requirement, the ESS is to balance the power supply [56]. The ESS acts as a transfer station to store the remaining energy and supply the system when needed. Table 3-1 summarizes the different storage units and their key features respectively. In other words, the power flowing in the ESS components varies greatly based on the operational generation system and loads demand. In addition, the power flow of storage units can be divided into high-frequency parts, such as great increase or increment in loads demand or low-efficiency caused by natural behaviors [57]. The former one generally requires storage units have ability to response fast, while for low-frequency power flowing, the storage elements should have high-energy density.

	Energy	Power	Cycle	Response	
Energy storage system	density	density	life	time	Cost
Chemical battery	high	low	short	medium	low
NaS battery	medium	low	short	slow	medium
flywheel	low	high	long	fast	high
Super-capacitor	low	high	long	fast	medium

magnetic energy storagemediumhighlongfasthigh	Superconducting					
	magnetic energy storage	medium	high	long	fast	high

Table 3-1 Characteristics of different ESS elements [55]

Batteries is widely applied in hybrid or electric vehicles, and even in utility power systems [57]. However, this application has a problem, it is difficult to recover from fast power fluctuations, and this process will reduce the batteries' lifetime. On the one hand, according to Table 3-1, they all do not have the characteristics of optimal response to high-frequency and low-frequency power exchange at the same time [58]. Compared with batteries, energy is stored in a super-capacitor by static charging or discharging instead of an electro-chemical process in a battery, thus, the super-capacitor has a higher power density and responses faster than the battery, but it lasts shorter than the battery.

3.4.2 Improvement of island microgrid from subsystem-level

From the analysis above, combining different energy storage devices to form a HESS (hybrid energy storage system) can have better performance [59,60]. This method combines the advantages of different storage technologies and improve the reliability of power system [59]. Battery-supercapacitor storage system stands out in numerous hybrid energy storage system because of their availability, similarity in operating principles, relatively low cost, and mutual restraint. In islanded microgrid, when the power generated by generation systems exceeds the demand of loads, the remaining power will be stored in the storage units. Otherwise, converters will transfer the energy from the storage units to the loads when required.

In HESS, The topology provides more control flexibility compared to the topology which connects the storage units directly to the voltage bus [6]. A bidirectional DC-DC converter is embedded to construct two stage electronic system, and it has two main advantages: (1) to accomplish the power flow between the batteries and the inverter's DC bus (2) to control the dc link voltage[55]. The topology for HESS is shown in figure 3-10. From the existed work, although the HESS is widely applied in several applications, the reliability assessment considering the operational failure rate of power electronic devices hasn't been studied. Thus, this paper will analyze the reliability improvement based on islanded microgrid with HESS. This section focuses on analyzing reliability improvement of HESS in subsystem level.



Figure 3-10 A typical grid converter topology of HESS

Based on the model of HESS shown in Figure 3-10, from the perspective of component-level, the addition of super-capacitor greatly decreases the electrical stresses of battery. Because the battery has low power density, if it is applied in the condition

which always being charged or discharging suddenly, the failure rate of battery will increase greatly, thus, decreasing the reliability performance of ESS. Some advantages of the HESS are listed: prolong the lifetime of batteries; fast energy storage; energy storage for intermittent sources; a smaller environmental impact. From the perspective of system-level, the parallel configuration provides a backup leg for ESS, thus improving the reliability in subsystem level.

3.5 Conclusion

This chapter establishes operational failure model for power generation systems and energy storage systems respectively in section 3.2. It analyzes the operational conditions of power electronics, including the influence of meteorological factors and different stress factors. Then the systematical failure model for each subsystem is established.

In the systematical failure model, the power model obtains the power flow of generation systems and the energy storage system to obtain the electrical stresses of power electronics. Based on the operational conditions of power electronics, the power loss of each component and the temperature variation can be obtained. From the perspective of reliability, the components within the power electronic converter can be regarded as a series connection. To verify these models, the tests have been done in section 3.3, as shown in the results, the failure rates of power electronic systems in WTGs have close relationship with the real-time temperature; the failure rates of power electronic systems in PVs has closely relationship with the real-time solar illumination.

Based on the reliability improvement methods introduced in section 2.3. To improve the reliability performance of microgrid, the development of energy storage system and reliability improvement of islanded microgrid from subsystem-level are introduced in section 3.4.

Chapter 4 Case Study

4.1 Introduction

In this chapter a low voltage benchmark system is studied and analyzed. The remainder of this chapter is organized in the following way. In section 4.2, topology of this system is simplified to several fault trees by using network reduction method and fault tree analysis, then combining the logical relationship among events to calculate the failure rate of each subsystem. Finally, take the operational failure rate and repair rate as inputs to the short-term outage model to get the reliability indexes of overall system. Then the components in the system and their reliability parameters referenced in [8] will be introduced in section 4.3. The algorithm steps of reliability assessment of system are illustrated in section 4.4. Last part 4.5 is the conclusion.

4.2 Modified benchmark 0.4 kV test system

The modified benchmark 0.4 kV test system referenced from [20] is carried out as a case study. The proposed system is consisted of 11 nodes. The load profile of each load point and parameters of the transmission lines are provided in [20]. This distribution system is composed of 12 feeder lines connected between loads and distribution generation. In

addition, there are tie switches in L4 and L11, when microgrid work properly, the L4 and L11 are open circuit. Distribution generations is composed of PV, WTG, ESS and MTG system. When there are all uncontrollable micro-sources like PVs and WTGs supplying in this islanded microgrid. The microgrid system is composed of three PVs, one WTG system and one ESS system as shown in figure 4-1. The rated output and location of renewable energy generation system and energy storage system can be referenced in [20,21] which is listed in table 4-1.



Figure 4-1 Modified benchmark 0.4 kV test system

Node.No	Types of μ S	Grate/kW
3	Photo-voltaic	7750
5	Photo-voltaic	6600
6	Wind Turbine generator	1000
8	Energy storage	1000
10	Photo-voltaic	3000

Table 4-1 Location and capacities of microsources

Firstly, based on meteorological statistics (hourly wind speed, ambient temperature and solar illumination) of a given day in summer 2010 in Milwaukee and reliability evaluation methods introduced in chapter 1, the reliability metrics from component level and systematical level can be evaluated. At the system level, the FTA method combined with network conduction method are applied to the reliability evaluation of power electronic systems of subsystems. Then the obtained reliability metrics are applied to short-term outage model to evaluate the reliability of islanded microgrid from customers perspective. The overall system can be simplified to the Figure 4-2 as below.



Figure 4-2 Fault tree for improved benchmark 0.4 kV test system

As shown in above figure 4-2, the causes of loads outage can be the failure of DGs or transmission subsystem. For the failure of DGs, the causing event can be any failure of four subsystems, which consists of converters, generators and storage units. For the converters, the failure caused by control system is also considered.

A PV system and conventional BESS

As shown as below, the failure of PV system regarded as top event can be caused by four sub-events (the failure of PV modules, DC-link capacitor, control system, inverter or breaker).



Figure 4-3 Fault tree for PV system

For subsystems in microgrid, the systematical failure rate can be expressed by:

$$\lambda_{PV/ESS} = \lambda_{inverter} + \lambda_{capacitor} + \lambda_{PV \text{ modules}} + \lambda_{control} + \lambda_{breaker}$$
(4.1)

BWTG and WTG system

As shown as below, the failure of WTG system regarded as top event can be caused by five sub-events (Wind turbine generator, DC-link capacitor, rectifier, inverter, breaker or control system).



Figure 4-4 Fault tree for wind turbine generation system

For subsystems in microgrid, the systematical failure rate can be expressed by:

$$\lambda_{WTG/MTG} = \lambda_{breaker} + \lambda_{inverter} + \lambda_{rectifier} + \lambda_{capacitor} + \lambda_{generator}$$
(4.2)

C ESS system

As shown in Figure 4-5, the failure of BESS regarded as top event can be caused by five sub-events (battery modules, bi-directional DC/DC converter, breaker and control failure). Then the operational failure rate of ESS can be expressed as below:



Figure 4-5 Fault tree for battery energy storage system

$$\lambda_{BESS} = \lambda_{inverter} + \lambda_{Bi-DC/DC} + \lambda_{batteries} + \lambda_{capacitor} + \lambda_{breaker}$$
(4.3)

To improve the reliability performance of microgrid in a subsystem-level, replacing the one stage battery storage system with parallel hybrid energy storage system, the failure of HESS can be caused by three sub-events and the fault tree is constructed in Figure 4-6, then the operational failure rate of HESS can be expressed as below:



Figure 4-6 Fault tree for hybrid energy storage system

$$\lambda_{HESS} = \lambda_{inverter} + \lambda_{HESS} + \lambda_{capacitor} + \lambda_{breaker}$$
(4.4)

No.	Types	No.	Types
m1-m6,m13-m18,m25-m30		m67,m71	
m53-m58,m41-m46	IGBTs	m39	Inductances
m7-m12,m19-m24,m31-m36		m68.m72	
m59-m64,m47-m52	Diodes	m40	capacitors
m37,m38,m65,m66,m69,m70	MOSFETs		

Table 4-2 components in fault trees

4.3 Component parameters

This thesis focuses on studying the influence of operational failure rates of power electronics due to the volatile and intermittent renewable generation on microgrid reliability, and the failure rates of wind turbine, PV arrays and battery are chosen according to statistical databases [20][21].

A. Feeder line

As shown in figure 4-1, there are 12 feeder cables in this islanded micro-grid, the parameters are referenced in [20] and listed in table 4-3.

No.	$R(\Omega / km)$	$X(\Omega / km)$	C(nF/km)	L(km)
L1	0.579	0.367	9.93	0.282
L2	0.164	0.113	413	0.442
L3	0.262	0.121	405	0.061
L4	0.354	0.129	285	0.056
L5	0.336	0.126	343	0.154
L6	0.256	0.130	235	0.024
L7	0.294	0.123	350	0.167
L8	0.339	0.130	273	0.032
L9	0.339	0.133	302	0.077
L10	0.367	0.133	285	0.033
L11	0.423	0.134	310	0.049
L12	0.172	0.115	411	0.130

Table 4-3 Parameters of Feeder lines

B. Load model

In addition, the loads are divided into two types: residential and commercial loads. The related hourly variable load demand and number of customer at each point are referenced in [20] and listed in Table 4-4.

Node. No	Residential		commercial	
	Load value/kVA	Number of customers	Load value/kVA	Number of customers
1	7.5+j*1.55	50	2.5+j*0.50	2
2				
3	2.76+j*0.69	50	2.24+j*1.39	2
4	4.32+j*1.08	50		
5	7.25+j*1.82	50		
6	5.5+j*1.38	50		
7			0.77+j*0.48	2
8	5.88+j*1.47	50		
9			5.74+j*3.56	2
10	4.77+j*1.20	50	0.68+j*0.42	2
11	3.31+j*0.83	50		

Table 4-4 Parameters of loads

B. Parameters of power electronics in subsystems

The main parameters for electronic power systems in this tested islanded microgrid are shown as below:

parameters	values	parameters	values
V _{IGBT}	1.54V	E _{diode}	0.39J
R _{IGBT}	$0.84 \times 10^{-3} \Omega$	U	690V
f	3000Hz	<i>N</i> ₁	6
Eon	0.50J	N ₂	6
E _{off}	0.57J	R _{ha}	0.454°C/W
V _{DC}	1100V	Π_{PM}	0.16
V _{ref,IGBT}	1700V	Π _{process}	0.4
I _{ref,IGBT}	2400A	$\Pi_{induced}$	7.12
Ug	563.4V	γ_{TH}	0.359
V _{LL}	690V	Ŷτc	0.523
V _{diode}	0.81V	Ύм	0.9
R _{diode}	1.5Ω	ΎRH	0.028

Table 4-5 Parameters of power electronics in subsystems

For the converters in subsystems in islanded microgrid, the real-time failure rate can be calculated based on the model proposed in chapter 3. To calculate the reliability indices, the repair rate and failure rate for modules and breaker are provided in Table 4-4 which are referenced in [20].

Types	Failure rate λ	Repair rate r
Wind turbines	2.5	3
PV arrays	5	3
Batteries	2	5
breakers	8	2

Table 4-6 Reliability parameters of Component

In fault trees, assuming the components in one subsystem are in series connection, in another word, when one component in subsystem fail, the subsystem can't realize its function. Considering the effect of the real-time hourly meteorological factors, when calculating the operational failure rate. The hourly meteorological factors of one day in the Summer of 2010 in Milwaukee were used and given in figure 4-4 and the figure 4-5.



Figure 4-7 Hourly ambient temperature and wind speed



Figure 4-8 Hourly solar illumination

4.4 Simulation

4.4.1 Solution Process

The solution process is shown in Fig.4. 7 and related steps are illustrated as follow.

Step 1) Initialization and analyze power flow in microgrid.

Step 2) Based on the power flow and loss model, calculating the power loss of power electronic devices, then using the thermal model to get the operational rate of components.

Step 3) Identifying failure events which contribute to outage of loads and construct fault trees, then calculating the reliability indices in system level.

Step 4) Calculating average outage times and failure rate of load points, as explained in short term outage model.

Step 5) Calculating the reliability indices of load points mentioned in Chapter 1.

Step 6) Checking whether all intervals have been analyzed.

Step 7) While "No", repeating the process; if "Yes", evaluating the short-term reliability indices of microgrid system based on functions mentioned in Chapter 1.



4.4.2 Simulation results and analysis

As shown in figure 4-8 and 4-9, it can be found that the peak of the wind speed is around 13:00 and the peak of the ambient temperature is around 15:00. Based on the proposed systematical failure rate model in chapter 3, the operational failure rate model for each component can be obtained. Combined with proposed reliability assessment method in chapter 1, the operational failure rate for the converters of subsystems in islanded microgrid system is calculated. The operational failure rate of the subsystems are obtained as below:



Figure 4-10 Failure rates of power electronics for PV systems

From the Figure 4-11, it can be found that the failure rates of three PV systems have close relationship with the solar illumination. Take the interval from 9:00 to 13:00 as an example, the solar illumination increases greatly from 9:00 to 13:00 but decreases from 13:00 to 15:00, while during this period ambient temperature it increase linearly, the failure rate reaches peak point around 13:00 and decreases after that point. The operational failure rate of WTG has close relationship with ambient temperature, even the wind speed begins to decrease, the failure rate still increases because of the rise of temperature from 13:00 to 15:00.

A. Considering the operational failure rate of electronic power system

To verify the proposed model, two cases are studied. For case 1, the operational failure rates of power electronics are taken into consideration, while the islanded microgrid in

case 2 dose not. Both of them use the short-term model to calculate the reliability indices shown as below.

Conditions	Short-term outage model	Operational condition	Microsources included
Case 1	Yes	Yes	Yes
Case2	Yes	No	Yes

Table 4-7 Two cases under different conditions

Comparing case 1 and 2, case 1 ignores the impact of power electronics failures on the system reliability index, and only considers the influence of operating conditions on the impact of micro-sources' fluctuating supply on the system reliability index. As shown in Figure 4-12, the red line represents the reliability index of case 2, and the blue line is result of case 1. The reliability indices of case 1 are all greater than case 2. When considering the operational impact of power electronics, the reliability performance of microgrid shows negative. In addition, the curves of three indices are similar to each other. It can be seen that in case 2, with the empirical failure rates adopted, it can't reflect the effect of the operational condition on the failure rate of the devices. Since the microgrids' operational conditions are changeable. The failure rate of power electronic devices, and the parameters such as component failure rate, will directly affect the calculated reliability index of the load points and the reliability of the system.



Figure 4-11 Reliability indices of two cases

B. Verify the proposed reliability improvement method

After building the energy storage system operational failure model, to do research on impact of different types energy storage system on the islanded microgrid and verify the effective of HESS, case 3,4 and 5 are studied. First, BESS (battery energy storage system) without Bi-DC/DC converter model is built in case 1. Then adding Bi-DC/DC converter model and building the operational failure model of BESS in case 3. To improve the reliability performance of the ESS in subsystem level, applying the HESS to islanded microgrid and build the operational failure model of HESS in case 4. The hourly indices of these cases are calculated and illustrated as below.

Conditions	Short-term outage model	Operating condition	Microsources included	ESS types
Case 1	Yes	Yes	Yes	BESS
Case3	Yes	Yes	Yes	BESS with Bi-DC/DC

Case 4	Yes	Yes	Yes	HESS
--------	-----	-----	-----	------

Indices	SAIFI	SAIDI	ENS
Case 1	272.3503	999.6307	122.9010
Case3	313.8186	1029.7	122.9794
Case 4	299.9514	974.2912	115.2170

Table 4-9 Three reliability indices under different conditions

From the results shown in the table 4-9, compare the case 3 and case 4, the reliability indices decrease obviously, which means microgrid with HESS shows better performance than microgrid with BESS. When HESS is applied in islanded microgrid. In other words, this approach adds redundant path to energy storage system, when the batteries or super-capacitors have failure, the energy storage system can still achieve its partly performance to supply to customers. Thus, the comparison of two cases verify the reliability improvement method mentioned in Chapter 3.

Compare case 1 and case 3, the addition of bidirectional DC/DC converter increase the operational failure rate of ESS, because in these two cases, the failure rates of batteries are assumed as same value. In reality, the bidirectional DC/DC converter will decrease the electrical stresses and amount of battery, thus the failure rate of batteries can be smaller. Thus, finding a balance between the adding redundancy to system and increase of failure rate caused by power electronics is of great significance. From these results, it can be seen that the large-scale application of power electronic devices also brings new

hidden danger for the reliability of microgrid systems, and improving the reliability of high-power converter circuits is an urgently needed part of the microgrid technology.

C. Considering the different types of micro-sources

This section explains the different types of micro-sources' impact on the reliability performance on the island microgrid. Considering the PV systems and WTG system as uncontrollable generation system and MTG system as the controllable generation system.

Indices	SAIFI(total)	SAIDI(total)	ENS(total)
Case1	272.3503	999.6307	122.9010
Case 5	226.3619	814.8822	122.6831
Case6	298.9334	1170.8	123.7309

Table 4-10 Three cases under different conditions

Conditions	Short-term outage model	Operating condition	Microsources types
Case 1	Yes	Yes	3PVs+1WTG
Case5	Yes	Yes	all PVs
Case 6	Yes	Yes	all WTGs

Table 4-11 Three reliability indices under different conditions

For the 1st condition, when the islanded microgrid is fully supplied by renewable energy generation systems (WTG system, PV system), the reliability indices for the whole system were calculated.

As shown in Table 4-11, the reliability index of case 5 when the system is fully supplied by PV systems, compared with case 1, SAIDI, SAIFI decrease while the ENS increase. Compared with case 1, the PV system shows better performance because of the operational failure rate of PV system (one stage) is smaller than WTG system (two stages). However, When the system is fully powered by all WTG systems in case 6, the reliability performance of the system decreases greatly since the SAIDI, SAIFI and ENS all increase. Because of the largely applied power electronics, the impact of power electronics failures on the reliability index is negative.

For the 2nd condition, to compare the reliability performance of microgrid with controllable generation system, replacing WTG system or PV system by MTG systems micro-turbine generation system in case 7 and case 9. Then the comparison is done and reliability of different cases are listed in below.

Conditions	Short-term outage model	Operating condition	Microsources types
Case 7	Yes	Yes	1GT+3PV
Case8	Yes	Yes	1GT+2PVs+1WTG
Case 9	Yes	Yes	1GT+3WTGs

Table 4-12 Three reliability indices under different conditions
Indices	SAIFI(total)	SAIDI(total)	ENS(total)
Case7	194.7459	868.1	118.1624
Case8	201.5688	923.7063	120.4036
Case9	256.1621	1061.4	122.3541

Table 4-13 Three reliability indices under different conditions

Case 7 replaces the WTG system with MTG system of case 1. From the results shown in Table 4-13, the microgrid in case 7 shows better performance, the three indices all decrease greatly, especially the ENS. Because of the MTG system has the same topology as WTG system, the effect of operational failure rate is similar. In addition, the power output can be controlled based on the requirement of loads and rated power of MTG is greater than WTG system. Based on case 7, replacing one PV system with WTG system, the resulting indices SAIDI and SAIFI of case 8 increase because of the impact of electrical devices is greater. Because the WTG show better performance in power supply, ENS decreases.

Based on case 6, replacing the WTG system with MTG system to get case 9, as analyzed in transformation from case 1 to case 7, the microgrid has better performance, the reliability indices all decrease. From the analysis above, the types of micro-sources should have great influence of reliability indices of system.

4.5 Conclusions

In this chapter, the first, second and third section have briefly introduction for a modified 0.4kV islanded microgrid system, focusing on the configuration, parameters of different components, loads requirements. Then, the simplified fault tree for overall system and each subsystem are built and analyzed.

To verify the reliability improvement method proposed in Chapter 3, applying the HESS in islanded microgrid system and doing the comparison, the results show that combined with the operational failure rate model of the converter, reliability indices can reflect the reliability of the islanded microgrid system more accurate. In addition, with the HESS replacing the conventional BESS, the islanded microgrid has better reliability performance. Then, to study the effect of different types of micro-sources, the reliability indices for different the tested cases were calculated based on the solution process and compared in section 4.4.

Chapter 5 Sensitivity Analysis

Based on the case study above, to evaluate the influence of the different factors, a set of sensitivity analysis will be done considering the following aspect:

- 1). The effect of wind turbine parameter setting;
- 2). The effect of PV parameter setting;
- 3). The effect of ESS capacity.
- 4). Yearly operational failure rate characteristics;

For these further sensitivity tests, based on case study in this paper to do the system-level reliability metrics evaluation and analysis.

5.1 The effect of wind turbine parameter setting

The parameters of the wind turbines can affect the output power of wind turbines generation and then effect the reliability metrics of the components, thus having influence on failure rate of electrical power systems. In this section the effect of three parameters on wind turbines performance are studied. First, based on the hourly time-varying wind speed and temperature in one day in spring. Taking one wind turbine generation as an example and change its one parameter while keeping other two parameters as the same. The case study in different conditions are illustrated as below.

A. Cut-in speed

To study the impact of V_{ci} (cut-in speed)on reliability performance further, setting the V_{ci} as different values from 2.5m/s to 4.5m/s in one case. The setting parameters are all less than the V_r (rated wind speed), the average hourly wind generations are shown in figure 5-1.



Figure 5-1 Average hourly wind generation

As we can see above, it is obvious that when increasing the V_{ci} , generation of wind generators decreases, and the failure rate of the converter was also calculated:



Figure 5-2 Hourly converter failure rate

As shown in Figure 5-2, the V_{ci} has effect on the operational failure rate of the converter. From the 0 to 11:00, the effect is more obvious, because during this period, the wind speed is less than rated speed, so the growth of output of WTG is related to wind speed. From the 11:00 to 14:00, the effect is slight. With the cut-in speed increasing, the power generation ability is weakened, which means the power supplied decreases, the electrical stresses decrease, thus the failure rate is lower. The reliability indices of the overall system are calculated as below:

Indices	SAIFI(total)	SAIDI(total)	ENS(total)
2.5	274.1065	1003.1608	122.8857
3	273.6183	1002.7884	122.8928
3.5	272.3503	999.6307	122.9010
4	272.2335	999.2166	122.9205
4.5	272.1020	999.1627	122.9515

Table 5-1 Daily reliability indices for different cut-in wind speed

From the reliability metrics shown in table, when the cut-in speed is increasing, as shown in Figure 5-1, the generation of WTG decreases, so the ENS increases lightly. In addition, the reduction of failure rate results in reduction of SAIDI and SAIFI slightly.

B. Cut-out wind speed

To study the impact of V_{co} (cut-out speed) on reliability performance further, setting the V_{co} as different values from 14m/s to 25m/s in one case. The setting parameters are all greater than V_r , the average hourly wind generations are shown in Figure 5-3, it is obvious that when increasing the V_{co} , generation of wind generators decreases.



Figure 5-3Average hourly wind generation



Figure 5-4 Hourly converter failure rate

As shown in Figure 5-4, V_{co} has slight effect on the operational failure rate of the converter. With the V_{co} increasing, the power generation ability is improved at first parameter changing, then stay as the same. which means the power supplied increases, the electrical stresses increase, thus the failure rate is a little greater. The reliability indices of the overall system are calculated as below:

Indices	SAIFI(total)	SAIDI(total)	ENS(total)
14	221.3102	821.4992	121.0392
16	242.3338	893.0067	120.1647
18	266.9020	976.1993	120.5487
20	272.3503	999.6307	122.9010
25	272.3503	999.6307	122.9010

Table 5-2 Daily reliability indices for different cut-out wind speed

From the reliability metrics shown in Table 5-2, when the cut-out speed is increasing, as shown in Figure 5-3, the generation of WTG increases, the ENS decreases lightly. In addition, the growth of failure rate results in growth of SAIDI and SAIFI slightly.

C. Rated wind speed

To study the impact of V_r (rated wind speed) on reliability performance further, setting the V_r as different values from 11.5m/s to 14.5m/s in one case. The setting parameters are all in the range between the V_{ci} and V_{co} , the operational failure rates of WTG system in different conditions are shown in Figure 5-5.



Figure 5-5 Converter failure rate

As shown in Figure 5-5, V_r has great effect on the operational failure rate of the converter, especially from 0 to 11:00. With V_r increasing, the power generation decreases, which means the power supplied decreases, the electrical stresses decrease, thus the failure rate is lower. The reliability indices of the overall system are calculated as below:

Indices	SAIFI(total)	SAIDI(total)	ENS(total)
11.5	280.6954	1024.7	122.8603
12.5	272.3503	999.6307	122.9010
13.5	266.1047	984.2029	122.9527
14.5	263.1047	978.1207	123.1008

Table 5-3 Daily reliability indices for different rated wind speed

From the reliability metrics shown in table 5-3, when V_r is increasing, the generation of WTG increases and the ENS decreases lightly. In addition, the growth of failure rate results in growth of SAIDI and SAIFI slightly.

5.2 The effect of PV parameter setting

For PV arrays, the parameters like rated temperature and rated solar illumination will also affect output of the PV generation and then affect the operational condition of converters, thus having influence on failure rate of power system. In this section the effect of three parameters on PV arrays are studied. In this section the effect of each factor is studied.

A. Rated temperature

To study the impact of rated temperature on reliability performance further, setting the rated temperature of four arrays as different values 16,20,25,30 centigrade respectively. The average hourly solar generations are shown in Figure 5-6, when the rated temperature rises, the generation of PV arrays increases.



Figure 5-6 Average hourly PV generation



Figure 5-7 Failure rate of PV system at different Erated

As shown in Figure 5-7, the rated temperature has great effect on the operational failure rate of the converter. When increasing this parameter, the output of PV arrays increases, especially from 12:00 to 14:00, the effect is more obvious, because during this period, the solar illumination is stronger, so the output of PV arrays increases greatly. While from the 0 to 9:00. the effect is slight. With the solar illumination gets stronger, the power generation ability increases. The electrical stresses increase, thus the failure rate is higher.

B Rated solar illumination

To study the impact of rated solar illumination on reliability performance further, setting the rated solar illumination of four arrays as different values respectively. The average hourly solar generations are shown in figure 5-8, when increasing rated solar illumination, the generation of PV arrays decreases.



Figure 5-8 Average hourly PV generation

The rated solar illumination will affect the PV generation, then the PV generation will affect the failure rate of electrical devices. Based on the hourly solar illumination for one day, the hourly failure rate of PV system was calculated as below:



Figure 5-9 Converter failure rate

As shown in Figure 5-9, when increasing rated solar illumination, the output of PV arrays decreases greatly, especially from 9:00 to 15:00, the gap between the curves is bigger, because during this period, the solar illumination is stronger and reaches peak point at 13:00, so the output of PV arrays increases greatly. While from the 0:00 to 9:00. the

effect is slight. When the solar illumination becomes stronger, the reduction of power generation is bigger. The electrical stresses decrease greatly, thus the gap between failure rates of $S_{rated} = 30$ is bigger.

C. Rated generation

To study the impact of rated generation on reliability performance further, setting the parameters of four arrays as different values respectively. The average hourly solar generations are shown in figure 5-10, it is obvious that when increasing the rated generation, the generation of PV arrays increases.



Figure 5-10 Average hourly Generation of PV system at different Grated



As shown in Figure 5-11, when increasing rated generation, the output of PV arrays increases greatly, especially from 12:00 to 14:00, the gap between the curves is bigger, because during this period, the solar illumination is stronger and reaches highest point at 13:00, so the output of PV arrays increases greatly. When output of PV arrays increases greatly, the electrical stresses of devices are heavily, so the failure rate increase when rated generation get larger.

5.3 The effect of ESS capacity

For islanded micro-grid highly penetrated with renewable energy generation system, the ESS plays an important role in weakening the uncertain characteristics of renewable power. To confirm the effect of ESS capacity on system reliability, the capacity of the battery in energy storage system was adjusted from 500 kW and 1250 kW. As we can see, with the growth of the battery capacity, the reliability indices also increase.



Figure 5-12 Failure rate of ESS system at different capacity

When increasing the capacity of ESS, the power flow through power electronics in ESS gets bigger, thus increasing the electrical stresses of devices, as shown in different curves in Figure 5-12, the failure rate of larger capacity is larger in general. In addition, the reliability indices of microgrid also calculated as below.



Figure 5-13 Hourly reliability indices for different capacity

As the results shown as above, when increasing the capacity of energy storage system, the electrical stresses of power electronics in conversion system increase, thus the failure rate of this subsystem increases. Thus the value of SAIDI and SAIFI increase in general, the ENS decrease in general, as shown in above figure, the reliability indices of larger capacity are both higher than smaller capacity from 17:00 to 18;00. Because during that time, the loads of microgrid is heavy, thus the power flow of ESS is larger, the probability of loads outage or energy not supplied is larger.

5.4 Yearly operational failure rate characteristics

For islanded micro-grid studied at this paper, to do this analysis, the meteorological statistics in whole year 2010 in Milwaukee are used.





Figure 5-16 Solar illumination in Milwaukee, 2010

As we can see above, the wind speed and temperature have seasonal characteristics. The wind speed is higher in Spring and Winter and lower in Summer and Autumn, while the ambient temperature is just the opposite. Solar illumination is stronger around Summer. In addition, the wind speed fluctuates more violently in the summer and autumn. Next, then the wind turbines generation and the operational failure rate for the converter calculated.



Figure 5-17 Hourly wind generation



Figure 5-18 Hourly converter failure rate in WTG system

As we can see above, the wind generation reflects the wind speed fluctuation in the summer and autumn directly and the trend of the hourly generation curve is consistent with the wind speed. The relatively lower failure rate for the WTG system is from 0th hour to 2000th hour and from 7000th hour to 8760th hour. Because the conditional factors like lower wind speed and lower temperature cause less power generation, then the thermal factor and thermal factor of power electronics are smaller, thus failure rate during

that time is smaller. The operational failure rate shows closer relationship with ambient temperature, and it also reflects the fluctuation of the wind seasonally.

Then hourly solar illumination and ambient temperature data in whole year 2010 in Milwaukee is used and the generation and the operational failure rate of the converter in PV system are calculated as below.



Figure 5-20 Hourly converter failure rate in PV system

As shown in above figures, from 2000th to 4800th hour, the solar generation reflects the solar illumination hourly in general. For the operational failure rate of PV systems, it shows an upward trend and reaches highest point around 4800th hour. Because of the strong solar illumination and high temperature around that time. Then it becomes to decrease after highest point but still show high level from 4800th hour to 6200th hour. The trend of the hourly converter failure rate curve is consistent with the solar illumination and it also reflects the fluctuation of the ambient temperature in summer and autumn.

5.5 Conclusions and future Works

In this chapter, a set of sensitivity tests have been done considering the effect of wind turbine parameter setting, PV modules parameter setting, battery capacity, and the yearly meteorologic characteristics. Reliability indices for different conditions are calculated based on the hourly meteorological statistics of whole year 2010 in Milwaukee. When changing different parameters of wind turbine generators and PV arrays, the power output for generation systems change partly. Then it will change the electrical stresses and thermal factor of devices, thus the operational failure rate has related changes.

The results show that the yearly characteristic is significant, and it is largely affected by the ambient temperature and solar illumination. The wind speed also has its influences. The worst system reliability performance is in the period with the highest temperature , strongest solar illumination and most fluctuating wind speed in the year. From the analysis above, to improve the system reliability, adjusting the wind turbine parameters, PV arrays parameters, and the capacity of the battery appropriately will improve the reliability performance of microgrids.

Based on above work, future work can focus on the below perspectives: considering the impact of operational failure rate of storage units; combining climate forecast technology to evaluate the operational failure rate; study the outage probability prediction for different loads points; establishment of operational failure rate model in other applications.

Chapter 6 Conclusion and future work

In this thesis, the operational reliability for the islanded microgrid system is studied. The reliability indexes for a modified 0.4 kV islanded benchmark systems are evaluated.

First, based on the operational model, the time-varying failure rate of components can be calculated. Combing the FTA method and Network reduction method to simplify system to several subsystems. For each subsystem, the operational failure model is built. With meteorological factors varying, the failure rate of power electronic systems will have the corresponding change. For the failure rate of the converter in WTG system, the effect of ambient temperature is very significant; For the failure rate of the converter in PV system, the effect of solar illumination is very significant; For the failure rate of the converter in ESS and MTG system, the effect of power flow is very significant. And the outage is more likely to happen during the daytime because of the fast wind speed, strong solar illumination or larger power flow for system. Based on the operational failure rate of components, the time-varying failure rate of overall system can be obtained. By using the short-term outage model, the reliability indexes for system can be evaluated. Then the effect of power electronics on reliability have been proved in simulation, when considering the operational failure rate, the performance of system becomes worse.

Then, to improve the reliability of system, replacing the conventional BESS to HESS. It not only prolongs the lifetime of batteries by reducing the electrical stresses of batteries, but also adds the redundancy to subsystem to improve the reliability. Finally, utilizing the operational failure rate model to evaluate the reliability and verify the improvement of reliability. The results show that, the reliability for the system with HESS have better performance than system with BESS. In addition, the effect of different types of microsources has also been studied.

Lastly, the sensitivity analyses study the influence of parameters setting of PV arrays and wind turbine generation system, yearly characteristics and energy storage capacity. The results show that, the seasonal characteristic is significant, and it is largely affected by the temperature factor. The wind speed also has its influences. To improve the system reliability, we can adjust the wind turbine and PV arrays parameters or the capacity of the storage units.

Future work can be focused on the following aspects:

- Considering more weather condition (natural disasters) in components' failure model, and studying the impact of extreme weather on components' operational failure and on system reliability;
- Building operational failure rate model for other application like HEV, PHEV system.
- Integrating meteorological factors forecast technology; using the predication ambient temperature, wind speed and solar illumination to study the failure rate prediction of the system;
- Calculating the availability of each subsystem and analyzing the contribution of each

component to the system reliability;

- Considering the investment and the maintenance to choose the optimal scheme.
- Calculating the system reliability for grid connected microgrid systems with different topologies; and considering the connection to the area distribution network.

References

- [1] International Energy Agency, "World Energy Outlook 2014 Executive Summary," 2014.
- [2] REN21 Renewable 2017 Global status report. [Online]. Available: http://www.ren21.net
- [3] W. Denson, "The history of reliability prediction," IEEE Trans. Rel., vol. 47, no. 3, pp. SP321–SP328, Sep. 1998.
- [4] R. Billinton, R. N. Allan, Reliability Evaluation of Power Systems, New York: Springer, 1996.
- [5] M. G. Pecht and F. R. Nash, "Predicting the reliability of electronic equipment," Proc. IEEE, vol. 82, no. 7, pp. 992–1004, Jul. 1994.
- [6] "Reliability prediction of electronic equipment," Dept. Defense, Washington, DC, USA, Tech. Rep. MIL-HDBK-217F, 1991.
- [7] Military Handbook: Reliability Prediction of Electronic Equipment, Standard MIL-HDBK-217F, Dec. 1991.
- [8] M. Rausand and A. Høyland, System Reliability Theory: Models, Statistical Methods, and Applications, 2nd ed. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley, 2005.
- [9] K. Chatterjee, M. Modarres, and J. B. Bernstein, "Fifty years of physics of failure," J. Rel. Inf. Anal. Center, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 1–5, Jan. 2012.
- [10] M. White and J. B. Bernstein, Microelectronics Reliability: Physicsof-Failure Based Modeling and Life Evaluation. Pasadena, CA, USA: Jet Propulsion Lab., 2008.

- [11] Physics of Failure Reliability Predictions, VMEbus International Trade Association, Standard ANSI/VITA 51.2, 2011.
- [12] M. Pecht and A. Dasgupta, "Physics-of-failure: An approach to reliable product development," in Proc. Int. Integr. Rel. Workshop, Oct. 1995, pp. 1–4.
- [13] K. Ma, Y. Yang, and F. Blaabjerg, "Transient modelling of loss and thermal dynamics in power semiconductor devices" in Proc. IEEE Energy Conversion Congr. Exposition (ECCE), Nov. 2014, pp. 5495–5510.
- [14] I.-S. Bae and J.-O Kim, "Reliability evaluation of customers in a microgrid," IEEE Trans. Power Syst., vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 1416–1422, Aug. 2008.
- [15] P. S. Patra, J. Mitra, and S. J. Ranade, "Microgrid architecture: A reliability constrained approach," in Proc. IEEE Power Eng. Soc. Meeting, 2005, vol. 3, pp. 2372–2377.
- [16] J. Mitra, S. B. Patra, and S. J. Ranade, "Reliability stipulated microgrid architecture using particle swarm optimization," in Proc. PMAPS, 2006, pp. 1–7.
- [17] A. K. Basu, S. P. Chowdhury, S. Chowdhury, S. D. Ray, and P. A. Crossley, "Reliability study of a micro-grid power system," in Proc. UPEC 2008, pp. 1–4
- [18] A. Prasai, A Paquette, Y. Du, R. Harley, and D. Divan, "Minimizing emissions in microgrids while meeting reliability and power quality objectives," in Proc. IPEC 2010, pp. 726–733.
- [19] S. Yin and C. Lu, "Distribution feeder scheduling considering variable load profile and outage costs," IEEE Trans. Power Syst., vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 652–660, May 2009.
- [20] X. Xu, J.Mitra, T. Wang, and L. Mu, "Evaluation of Operational Reliability of a Microgrid Using a Short-Term Outage Model," IEEE Transactions on Power Systems, vol. 29, no. 5, pp. 2238-2247, Sept. 2014.
- [21] X. Xu, J. Mitra, T. Wang, and L. Mu, "An Evaluation Strategy for Microgrid Reliability Considering the Effects of Protection System," IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery, vol. PP, no. 99, pp. 1-1
- [22] M. A. Smith and S. Atcitty, "Power Electronics Reliability Analysis," Sandia National Laboratories, Albuquerque, New Mexico, Tech. Rep. SAND2009-8377, Dec. 2009.
- [23] Y. Song; B. Wang, "Survey on Reliability of Power Electronic Systems," IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 591-604, Jan. 2013

- [24] FIDES Guide 2009 Edition: A Reliability Methodology for Electronic Systems. (Sep. 2010) [Online]. Available: www.fides-reliability.org
- [25] K. Xie, Z. Jiang, and W. Li, "Effect of Wind Speed on Wind Turbine Power Converter Reliability," IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 96-104, March 2012.
- [26] Sun Y, Wang P, Cheng L, et al. Operational reliability assessment of power systems considering condition-dependent failure rate[J]. Generation Transmission & Distribution Iet, 2010, 4(1):60-72.
- [27] Ma K, Wang H, Blaabjerg F. New Approaches to Reliability Assessment[J]. IEEE Power Electronics Magazine, 2016, 3(4):28-41.
- [28] Shi X, Bazzi A M. Fault tree reliability analysis of a micro-grid using Monte Carlo simulations[C]// Power and Energy Conference at Illinois. IEEE, 2015:1-5.
- [29] Yang G. Chapter 4. System Reliability Evaluation and Allocation[M]// Life Cycle Reliability Engineering. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. 2007:65-121.
- [30] Liu M, Li W, Wang C, et al. Reliability Evaluation of a Tidal Power Generation System Considering Tidal Current Speeds[J]. IEEE Transactions on Power Systems, 2016, 31(4):3179-3188.
- [31] Wang H, Blaabjerg F, Ma K, et al. Design for reliability in power electronics in renewable energy systems status and future[C]// Fourth International Conference on Power Engineering, Energy and Electrical Drives. IEEE, 2014:1846-1851.
- [32] Kouro S, Leon J I, Vinnikov D, et al. Grid-Connected Photovoltaic Systems: An Overview of Recent Research and Emerging PV Converter Technology[J]. IEEE Industrial Electronics Magazine, 2015, 9(1):47-61.
- [33] Rahmat M K, Jovanovic S. Reliability modelling of uninterruptible power supply systems using fault tree analysis method[J]. European Transactions on Electrical Power, 2010, 19(6):814-826.
- [33] A. K. Basu, S. Chowdhury, and S. P. Chowdhury, "Impact of strategic deployment of CHP-based DERs on microgrid reliability," IEEE Trans. Power Del., vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 1697–1705, Jul. 2010.
- [34] Modarres M. Reliability Engineering and Risk Analysis: Solutions Manual: A Practical Guide[M]// Reliability engineering and risk analysis :. Marcel Dekker, 1999:94-95.
- [35] Y. Sun, P. Wang, L. Cheng, and H. Liu, "Operational reliability assessment of power systems considering condition-dependent failure rate," Gener. Transm. Distrib. IET, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 60–72, 2010.

- [36] Jain S, Agarwal V. S. Jain and V. Agarwal, "A Single-Stage Grid Connected Inverter Topology for Solar PV Systems with Maximum Power Point Tracking," IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 22, no.5, pp. 1928-1940, September 2007[J]. 2007.
- [37] E. Collins, M. Dvorack, J. Mahn, M. Mundt, and M. Quintana, "Reliability and availability analysis of a fielded photovoltaic system," 2009 34th IEEE Photovoltaic Specialists Conference (PVSC), Philadelphia, PA, 2009, pp. 2316-2321.
- [38] E. C. Teixeira, "Boost current multilevel inverter and its application on single-phase grid-connected photovoltaic systems," IEEE Trans. Power Electron., vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 1116–1124, Jul. 2006.
- [39] M. Liu, W. Li, C. Wang, M. P. Polis, Y. L. Wang, and J. Li, "Reliability Evaluation of Large Scale Battery Energy Storage Systems," IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid, vol. PP, no. 99, pp. 1-11.
- [40] M. Armstrong, D. J. Atkinson, C. M. Johnson, and T. D. Abeyasekera, "Auto-calibrating dc link current sensing technique for transformerless, grid connected, H-bridge inverter systems," IEEE Trans. Power Electron., vol. 21, no. 5, pp. 1385–1396, Sep. 2006.
- [41] Krishnamurthy V, Kwasinski A. Effects of Power Electronics, Energy Storage, Power Distribution Architecture, and Lifeline Dependencies on Microgrid Resiliency During Extreme Events[J]. IEEE Journal of Emerging & Selected Topics in Power Electronics, 2016, 4(4):1310-1323.
- [42] Laly M J, Cheriyan E P, Mathew A T. Particle swarm optimization based optimal power flow management of power grid with renewable energy sources and storage[C]// Biennial International Conference on Power and Energy Systems: Towards Sustainable Energy. IEEE, 2016:1-6.
- [43] A. D. Hansen, F. Iov, F. Blaabjerg, and L. H. Hansen, "Review of contemporary wind turbine concepts and their market penetration," J. Wind Eng., vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 247–263, 2004.
- [44] R. Teodorescu, M. Liserre, and P. Rodriguez, Grid Converters for Photo voltaic and Wind Power Systems. Hoboken, NJ: IEEE/Wiley, 2011
- [45] Blaabjerg F, Liserre M, Ma K. Power Electronics Converters for Wind Turbine Systems[J]. IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications, 2011, 48(2):708-719.
- [46] Aglen O. Back-to-back tests of a high-speed generator[C]// Electric Machines and Drives Conference, 2003. IEMDC'03. IEEE International. IEEE, 2003:1084-1090 vol.2.

- [47] Scott W G. Micro-turbine generators for distribution systems[J]. IEEE Industry Applications Magazine, 1998, 4(3):57-62
- [48] Bai H, Wang F, Xing J. Control Strategy of Combined PWM Rectifier/Inverter for a High Speed Generator Power System[C]// Industrial Electronics and Applications, 2007. Iciea 2007. IEEE Conference on. IEEE, 2007:132-135.
- [49] K. Xie, Z. Jiang, and W. Li, "Effect of Wind Speed on Wind Turbine Power Converter Reliability," IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 96-104, March 2012.
- [50] Yantao Song, "Reliability of Power Electronic Systems in HEV and HVDC Systems," Michigan State University Electrical Engineering, 2014.
- [51] Escalera A, Hayes B, Prodanovic M. Reliability assessment of active distribution networks considering distributed energy resources and operational limits[C]// Cired Workshop. IET, 2017:108 (4.)-108 (4.).
- [52] Wang H, Liserre M, Blaabjerg F, et al. Transitioning to Physics-of-Failure as a Reliability Driver in Power Electronics[J]. IEEE Journal of Emerging & Selected Topics in Power Electronics, 2014, 2(1):97-114.
- [53] H. Zhang and L. M. Tolbert, "Efficiency Impact of Silicon Carbide Power Electronics for Modern Wind Turbine Full Scale Frequency Converter," IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics, vol. 58, no. 1, pp. 21-28, Jan. 2011.
- [54] Y. Sun, P. Wang, L. Cheng, and H. Liu, "Operational reliability assessment of power systems considering condition-dependent failure rate," *Gener. Transm. Distrib. IET*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 60–72, 2010.
- [55] Li, Qingmin, Tan, et al. Advances and trends of energy storage technology in Microgrid[J]. International Journal of Electrical Power & Energy Systems, 2013, 44(1):179-191.
- [56] Chen, H., Cong, T.N., Yang, W., et al.: 'Progress in electrical energy storage system: a critical review', Prog. Nat. Sci., 2009, 19, (3), pp. 291–312
- [57] Zhang Y, Jiang Z, Yu X. Small-signal modeling and analysis of battery-supercapacitor hybrid energy storage systems[J]. Power & Energy Society General Meeting. pes.ieee, 2009:1-8.
- [58] Zhang Y, Jiang Z. Dynamic power sharing strategy for active hybrid energy storage systems[C]// Vehicle Power and Propulsion Conference, 2009. VPPC '09. IEEE. IEEE, 2009:558-563.

- [59] Mukherjee N, Strickland D. Second life battery energy storage systems: Converter topology and redundancy selection[C]// Iet International Conference on Power Electronics, Machines and Drives. IET, 2014:1-6.
- [60] Murdock D A, Torres J E R, Connors J J, et al. Active thermal control of power electronic modules[J]. IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications, 2006, 42(2):552-558.